

Livestock Feed Resources in West African Sahel: A Review

Amole Tunde A. and Ayantunde Augustine A.

Amole Tunde A¹. and Ayantunde Augustine A².

¹International Livestock Research Institute, Ibadan, Nigeria ²International Livestock Research Institute, Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso 2019

Acknowledgement

This study was conducted under EQUIP – Strengthening smallholder livestock systems for the future project funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. The authors are solely responsible for the opinions expressed in this report.

Summary

Feed resources for livestock production are diverse and vary markedly across agro-ecological zones in West African Sahel and across season in terms of type, quantity and quality. The main feed resources for grazing ruminants are pastures and crop residues while commercially formulated feeds are increasingly being used in poultry and pig production particularly in periurban areas. These feed resources are important to improve the productivity of livestock thereby enhancing the livelihood of smallholder crop and livestock farmers in West Africa Sahelian countries. The objective of this study is to review the existing knowledge on feed resources in West African Sahel across different agro-ecological zones to identify the research gaps and strategies to improve feed resource availability and quality. The reviews were based on published research studies in the region including peer-reviewed articles, students' theses and research limitation to optimizing their potentials and further research areas. We also presented constraints associated with several methods of improving the feeding value of some identified feed resources and proposed the pathways of improving livestock feed resources in the Sahel.

Table of Contents

Summary
1. Introduction6
1.1.Implications of feed challenge on livestock productivity in West African Sahel7
2. Methodology
2.2. Types and availability of feed resources in West African Sahel10
2.2.1. Natural pastures10
2.2.2. Cultivated pasture15
2.2.3. Browse Plants
2.2.4. Crop Residues
2.2.4.1. Estimate of crop residue biomass in West Africa Sahel
2.2.4.2. Cereal Crop residues23
2.2.4.3. Legume haulms24
2.2.4.4. Utilization of crop residue in West African Sahel
2.2.4.5. Limitations of crop residues as animal feed27
2.2.4.6. Improving the nutritional value and use of crop residues
2.2.4.6.1. Improved conservation method
2.2.4.6.2. Supplementation of poor-quality livestock feed resources
2.2.4.7. Market potentials of crop residues
2.2.5. Agro-industrial byproducts
2.2.5.1. Constraints to the use of agro-industrial by-products
3. Knowledge gaps and lesson learnt in addressing feed challenges in West African Sahel. 38
3.1. Identify site-specific feed intervention40
4. Conclusion
References

List of Tables and Figures

Tables:

1. Characteristics of target sub-agroecological zones10

4. List of different methods of crop residue treatments, constraints and solutions...30

Figures:

1.	Available Feed Resources in Mahon during the year14
2.	Availability of Feed Resources during the year in Thiou, Burkina Faso19
3.	Availability of Feed Resources during the year in Milli, Niger20
4.	Quantity of crop resides produced across the sub-agroecology of Burkina Faso in
	199922
5.	Availability of Feed Resources during the year in Yakubawa, Nigeria37
6.	Basket of options for optimizing available crop residues41
Plate:	
1.	Methods of storing crop residues in Milli, Niger28
2.	Crop residues in the fodder market near Gourdjia, Niger32
3.	Fodder market in Niamey, Niger

Acronyms

AIBPs	Agro-industrial by-products
CR	Crop residues
IP	Innovation platform
IVODMD	In Vitro Organic Matter Digestibility
WAS	West African Sahel

1. Introduction

Livestock husbandry is critical for many of the smallholder farmers in West African Sahel, often contributing to multiple livelihood objectives and offering pathways out of poverty (Randolph et al., 2007). Livestock provide traction to cultivate fields, manure to improve soil fertility and consequently crop productivity, and nutritious food products for human consumption and income-generation (Sere *et al.*, 2008). In West African Sahel, livestock production systems are diverse, ranging from extensive pastoral systems to mixed crop and livestock systems. Over a decade ago, the report of SWAC-OECD/ECOWAS (2008) indicated that the livestock sector provided between 8 and 15% of overall gross domestic products (GDP), 44% of agricultural GDP and nearly 50% of the workforce are engaged in the sector in West Africa.

Ruminant nutrition depends largely on naturally growing pastures which fluctuate both quantitatively and qualitatively with the season. Besides the natural pastures, many livestock farmers in the region depend on crop residues, which is an important feed resource during the dry season. These crop residues are becoming a dominant feed resources as rangelands are being converted into crop fields in the Sahel. Associated with the seasonal fluctuation in quantity and quality of feed resources is poor nutrition of the animals which is a major constraint to livestock production in West African Sahel. Hence, the cycle of weight gain in the wet season and weight loss in the dry season is a common feature of livestock body weight development in the Sahel.

By 2030, urban beef consumption was projected to grow by more than 361% in developing counties, while rural beef consumption will more than double (FAO 2011). Such a growth in consumption which will largely drive associated growth in demand for feeds. This creates a tremendous opportunity for increasing livestock productivity through feed supply particularly as good quality feed is the most important constraint limiting livestock productivity in the Sahelian countries (Phillip *et al.*, 2009). The World Bank (2012) also predicted that changes in beef

demand and supply in West Africa will likely result in increased sourcing of ruminant livestock feed from the market (13% in 2030 as compared to 2.5% in 2010) rather than from grazing. For West African Sahel to be well positioned to respond to the present and future increase in demand for livestock products, its feed resource base must be proportionally aligned with such increasing demand.

There have been several studies on evaluating feed resources for livestock production with the emphasis on identification of alternative feed sources in order to minimize production cost without compromising accessibility to animal protein in the long run (CAB, 1997). Other studies have focused on an inventory of indigenous feed resources (Bayala *et al.*, 2014; Ayantunde *et al.* 2011; Aduku 2004; Sanon, 2007; Bayala *et al.*, 2012) in the Sahel and the introduction of improved genotypes especially as fodder bank (Tarawali and Mohamed-Saleem 1994). However, attempts at the introduction of improved forage species have been less successful mainly due to adaptability, agronomic problems and land shortages (Thomas and Sumberg 1995). The aim of this review is to synthesize previous studies on feed resources in West African Sahel, to identify gaps in knowledge and pathways and strategies to increase existing feed resource base. Besides this review aims at generating baseline data and to determine the potential crop residues within the major agro-ecological zones of West Africa.

1.1. Implications of feed challenge on livestock productivity in West African Sahel

In the Sahelian zone of West Africa, naturally occurring herbaceous grasses, legumes, ligneous plants and crop residues are the main feed resources (Teferedegne, 2000). These are greatly associated with marked seasonal variation in terms of availability and quality in the wet season, and scarcity (often with low feeding value) in the dry season (Wanapat *et al.*,

2000). Penning de Vries and Djiteye, (1991) attributed low availability of forage or biomass production from the rangelands to poor soil fertility and inadequate and erratic rainfall. The proportion of crop residues in the animal's diet is related to annual rainfall, the intensity of cropping and the available forage during the dry season (Ayantunde *et al.*, 2000). This seasonal variation of major feed resources results in shortage of supply of quality feed, particularly in the dry season and has implications on the livestock productivity (Fernandez-Rivera *et al.*, 2005). Inadequate nutrition in ruminants has often been associated with heavy economic losses to the farmers because of animal weight and body condition losses, reduced reproductive capacity and increased mortality rates. This condition contributes to increased susceptibility to diseases, migration of flocks and herders contributing to conflict over the use of grazing resources in many West African countries.

According to Smith (2015), poor feeding has limited the ability of livestock to reach their genetic potential and hindered the impact of technology interventions, including artificial insemination and oestrus synchronization. Notably, in the dry season, inadequate nutrition usually results in reduced body weight and body condition scores in adult animals, poor milk yields and long calving intervals in nursing cows, retarded growth and increased mortality rates in calves (Simbaya, 2002). In the same report, Simbaya (2002) associated poor nutrition with increased susceptibility of animals to stress and disease challenges, which result in these animals performing below their expected genetic potential (Simbaya, 2002). Others have demonstrated the nutrition-reproduction interactions as good nutrition increases reproductive efficiency in terms of lowering age at first calving and inter-calving interval, higher productive life leading to higher profitability to farmers (FAO/IAEA, 2003). Bell and Paul, (2016) provided evidence showing that *in utero* nutrition has an impact on productivity and health of offspring later in life in livestock.

2. Methodology

Geographically, our review targeted area within the West African Sahel which covers Senegal, Mali, Burkina Faso and Niger. We concentrated more on Burkina Faso and Niger to deepen the study while we also included relevant information from Senegal and Mali, and probably other countries outside this region. West African Sahel has an annual rainfall ranging from 200 to 600 mm, which is often unevenly distributed in time and space (Redelsperger *et al.*, 2006). The region has experienced rapid population growth from 20 to 80 million within 4 decades (Ly *et al.*, 2010). More than 80% of these population are rural dwellers and are practicing small scale farming in mixed-crop livestock systems for their livelihood (Ly *et al.*, 2010).

We recognized that the region refers to as the Sahel is vast and has sub-regions within this expanse, while its borders are transitional zones with the Sudanian agro-ecological zone commonly referred to as "Sudano-Sahelian". To enrich our review, we included this neighboring zone that shares similar livestock feed related issues. These agro-ecological zones are delineated by the amount and distribution of rainfall and number days of growing crops, which largely defines livestock production systems as well as available feed resources (Table 1).

Sub-agroecology within the Sahel	Annual rainfall (mm)	Dominant livestock production system	Major feed resources
Northern Sahelian	200 - 400	Pastoral	Natural pasture, crop residues, browse tree
Southern Sahelian	400 -800	Agro-pastoral	Natural pasture, crop residues
Sudano-Sahelian	800- 1000	Mixed crop-livestock production	Natural pasture, crop residues, agro-industrial by-products, household byproducts

Table1: Characteristics of target sub-agroecological zones in Burkina Faso

Adapted from Zampaligre et al., 2013; Savadogo et al., 1999; Amole and Ayantunde (2016a, b)

2.2. Types and availability of feed resources in West African Sahel

The feed resources in West African Sahel are mainly natural pastures, crop residues, agroindustrial by-products, and browse plants (Bayala *et al.* (2014). Livestock feed resources across West African Sahel can be broadly grouped into naturally grown pastures, cultivated forages browse shrubs/trees, crop residues, agro-industrial by-products, and concentrate. We limited our review to the above-mentioned feed resources based on the existing literature.

2.2.1. Natural pastures

The natural pasture of the Sahel is composed of an herbaceous layer dominated by annual plants (more than 80%), and a scattered population of shrubs and low density of trees (Hiernaux and Le Houérou 2006). These are naturally occurring plants generally found on uncultivated land including both the palatable and non-palatable species which animals have access to for grazing. These natural pastures are found in grazing lands which are often communally owned. The predominant species are grasses with little legumes. In their reports, Amole and Ayantunde (2016b) listed commonly found herbaceous species in the Sahel namely *Alysicarpus*

ovalifolius, Commelina forskalaei, Zornia glochidiata and Eragrostis tremula. Others have also reported Zornia glochidiata, Schoenefeldia gracilis, Cenchrus biflorus, Panicum laetum, Cassia obtusifolia, and Alysicarpus ovalifolius in the communal areas of the Sahel (Zerbo et al., 2016). Species composition in natural pasture differs along the agroecological gradient even within the Sahelian region. In their review, Bayala et al., (2014) reported that pastures in the northern part of the Sahel are composed of thorny shrubs/trees dominated by Acacia seyal, A. senegal, A. raddiana, A. nilotica and the annual herbaceous are mostly grasses such as Panicum turgidum, Aristida sieberiana, Cymbopogon schoenanthus, Cyperus jeminicus, Cyperus conglomeratus. Towards the southern Sahel, natural pasture is dominated by herbaceous grasses with denser tree and shrubs layer (Hiernaux and Le Houérou 2006).

Diop *et al.* (2005) and Dicko *et al.* (2006) had also reported that the available biomass in Sahelian zones of Mali and Senegal could allow a voluntary ingestion of 1.8 to 2.7 kg DM/100 kg of live weight for cattle, 1.7 to 3.2 kg DM/kg live weight for sheep, and up to 6 kg DM/kg live weight for goats. The dry matter of available forage declined to less than half the peak value in the late dry season. The result of feed assessment in Southern Burkina Faso revealed that the major feed resources were natural pasture and crop residues (Figure 1). Naturally occurring green fodder materials such as weeds from cropping areas, roadsides and grasses served as sources of feeds particularly at the onset of rains. However, its availability was generally low from November to June which is the period of dry season.

Variation in forage quality and quantity

Forage nutritive quality is a critical factor affecting ruminant productivity; simply because forages supply most nutrients in ruminant diets (Barnes *et al.*, 2007). Ideally, an increase in the quality of the forage(s) fed to an animal will increase production and potential economic return. This is simplistic, however, because forage quality is only one factor in the complex set of plant and animal factors and their interactions that determine potential animal performance (Moore, 1994). There are many factors influencing the variability of quality and quantity of forage which include but not limited to those discussed below:

Stage of growth

Stage of growth is the most important factor influencing the composition and nutritive value of pasture herbage (McDonald *et al.*, 1988). As plants grow there is a greater need for fibrous tissues, therefore the main structural carbohydrate (cellulose and hemicellulose) and lignin increase. As the plant ages, the concentration of protein decreases; there is therefore a reciprocal relationship between the protein and fiber content in a given species, although this relationship can be affected by the application of nitrogenous fertilizers (McDonald *et al.*, 1988).

Morphology

Stems of immature forage grass are generally similar in quality to leaves but declines at a faster rate with maturity than leaves due to differences in anatomy (Minson, 1990). Mc Donald *et al.* (1988) reported that digestibility of grasses was influenced by leaf/stem ratios, while Barnes *et al.* (2007) explained that in both grasses and legumes, leaves are almost always the highest-quality component. Sanderson and Wedin (1989) observed that leaf IVODMD declined at rate of 3 g kg⁻¹ for each increasing phonological stage. Breeding or managing forages to have a higher leaf/stem ratio therefore improve forage quality (Barnes *et al.*, 2007). Reduced leaf-to-stem ratio is a major cause of the decline in forage nutritive quality with maturity, and also the loss in

quality that occurs under adverse hay curing conditions. Leaves are higher in quality than stems, and the proportion of leaves in forage declines as the plant matures (Bell and Ritche, 1989).

Species and cultivar

Forage species are highly diverse and are distributed widely over the earth, and the nutritive quality of forage varies with the species that are adapted to the climate and soil of a given region (Barnes *et al.*, 2007). Generally, the greatest species differences in forage quality occur between grasses due to variations in total fiber concentration, as well as the amount and composition of lignin, the primary inhibitor of fiber digestion (Barnes *et al.*, 2007). Among the most influential factors affecting the nutritive value of herbage are the plant groups and species (e.g. grasses and legumes, tropical and temperate; Bruinenberg *et al.*, 2002 and Fulkerson *et al.*, 2007). C4 species are usually associated with a lower nutritive value than C3 species (Skerman and Riveros, 1990; Lowe and Fulkerson, 2003).

Climatic effect

Temperature has a greater effect on forage nutritive quality than any other environmental variable. Ford *et al.* (1979) reported that higher ambient temperature during growth is normally associated with a decrease dry matter digestibility (DMD), and this is most commonly attributed to higher concentration of cell wall constituents. Temperature can alter the carbohydrate status of metallic sinks by speeding rates of active transport across membranes, by changing the concentration of different enzymes (through modification of gene expression), and by changing enzymes activities (Barnes *et al.*, 2007).

The forage quality trait most affected by water deficit appears to be decreased concentration of NDF due to a reduction in the amount of fixed C incorporated into cell walls (Peterson *et al.*, 1994). Buxton and Fales (1994) observed that both N and soluble carbohydrates are exported out of leaves as they senesce, potentially resulting in a negative effect on forage quality.

However, concentrations of nitrogen in herbage indicate that the concentration of sugars and fructans, for example, can be influenced markedly by the amount of sunshine received by the plant. On a general note, on a dull cloudy day the soluble carbohydrate content of grass will be lower than on a fine sunny day. Calcium, for example, tends to accumulate in plants during periods of drought but present in small concentration when the soil moisture is high. On the other hand, phosphorus appears to be present in higher concentration when the rainfall is high (Buxton and Fales, 1994).



Figure 1: Available Feed Resources in Mahon during the year (Amole and Ayantunde 2016a).

Natural pasture in the Sahelian rangeland is characterized by seasonal, inter- and intra-annual, and spatial variation which is a key limiting factor to its productivity (Hiermaux, 1996). This is associated with both the temporal and spatial distribution of the precipitations (Bayala *et al.*, 2014), with abundance and good quality during the rainy season and scarcity and poor quality

during the dry season. Some publications including but not limited to Konlan et al. (2018) and FAO (2014) reported the seasonal effect on the availability and nutrient qualities of livestock feed resources in West Africa. A wide local variation in herbage production from differences in soil type and rainfall has also been reported within in Sahel region (Wylie et al., 1995). Mean primary production ranges from 600 kg DM ha⁻¹ in the northern Sahel with 200 mm of rainfall to 2400 kg DM ha⁻¹ in the southern Sahel with 600 mm rainfall (Glatzle, 1992). In another report from Diffa administrative district (northern Sahel) Niger, herbage production varied from 305 to 936 kg DM ha⁻¹ among various sites in same district (Wylie et al., 1995). Similarly, penning de Vries and Djiteye (1982) reported a total dry matter of natural pasture from 1.1 to 4 t ha⁻¹across the rainfall gradient in West Africa. Variation within site based on runoff water patterns based on topography and geomorphology, and plant species has also been reported (Breman and de Ridder, 1991). The impact on the nutrient quality of the herbage produced which is often inversely proportional to available soil water and soil type during the growing season has been reported (Breman and de Wit, 1983). This trends on herbage quality along rainfall gradients explained the growth performance of cattle. In Northern Niger at 320 mm rainfall, steers gained up 80 kg during the short rainy season and lost little weight during the dry season provided sufficient forage was available (Klein 1981, Wylie et al. 1983). In contrast, cattle grazing rangelands receiving 400 to 500 mm further south, gained 60 to 90 kg during the rains, but net annual gains per head were much lower due to weight losses of 30 to 50 kg during the dry season (P Hiernaux, unpublished data).

2.2.2. Cultivated pastures

In contrast to natural pastures, cultivated pastures are sown. The pasture is intentionally established for fodder production and contained improved fodder species. Hence, the productivity and the carrying capacity of cultivated pasture are higher than the natural pasture.

Many exotic species have been introduced in the Sahel and screened on-station based on their biochemical and nutritional composition, fertilizer requirements, persistence, management and use as forage legumes (Birie-Habas 1965; Thomas and Sumberg *et al.* 1995). Existing literature shows that most of the forage species were introduced and evaluated in different agro-ecology of West Africa (Sanon and Kanwé 2002; Kouame *et al.* (1992). Bayala *et al* (2014) reported that *Stylosanthes hamata, Digitaria umfolozi, Eulesine indica, Eleusine coracana, Cenchrus ciliaris, M. atropurpureus, M. aterrina, S. gracilis, V. unguiculata, L. purpereus, Brachiaria ruziziensis, Panicum maximum, and Dolichos lablab were forage species introduced and evaluated in Mali. Feeding calves with green <i>S. hamata* fodder led to a daily body weight gain of 178 g (Kouriba et al. 2008; Kouriba and Nantoumé 2000).

Most of these experiments have been conducted at plot level and there is a dearth of information on integration of these practices into the livestock systems in the Sahel (Bayala *et al.*, 2014). In addition, most of the reports about cultivating these improving species are in the grey literature, which did not help much with information circulation and consequently, contributing to limited adoption of the tested species in the Sahel (Thomas and Sumberg 1995)

According to Traore (2016) difficulties in adopting cultivated forage crops in Burkina Faso are:

- 1. Land availability: The inadequate availability of cropland systematically favors cereal cropping as against perennial forage plots. Farmers will prefer to sow cereal for household consumption than to cultivate forage crops
- 2. Cropping season: The crop calendar for forage species is practically the same as that for cereals. There is then a problem of allocation of labor at the expense of the forage crop.
- 3. Problem of seed multiplication: The demand for fodder seeds is much higher than the national supply and the import costs are prohibitive. Without the support of the state

structures and technical and financial partners in seed, the establishment of forage plots will be impossible at the farm level

2.2.3. Browse Plants

Browse plants refer to woody perennials, trees, shrubs and dwarf shrubs that small ruminants (goat and sheep) feed on which form an important component of the livestock diet, particularly in the dry season (Le Houérou, 1988; Atta-Krah *et al*, 1986). Their establishment and management require little labor, time, technical know-how or resources and could be promoted for use as animal feed. The multipurpose nature of browses as fuelwood, shade, food (fruits), poles, etc. as well as their potential to improve soil fertility and conservation are added advantages. In terms of utilization as animal feed, browse trees currently play an important role, as animals under confinement often receive one type or another of browse, from fallow lands or around homesteads. Efficient utilization in a complementary way with pastures and crop residues is what needs to be worked out through research, in order to exploit their potential nutritive value. Browsers, particularly goats can consume various parts of woody plants such as leaves, twigs, thorns, bark, wood, bulbs, tubers, roots, flowers, seedpods and fruits (Le Houérou, 1988; Lamidi, 2004). Browse could, therefore, supplement the low energy and protein content of grass forage if used effectively during dry season. Trees are more reliable than herbaceous legumes and grass in providing high-quality protein supplement in the dry season (Arigbede *et al.,* 2007).

The most common woody species in the Sahel and of course Burkina Faso are *Acacia senegal*, A. laeta, Calotropis procera, Pterocarpus lucens, Combretum glutinosum, Sclerocarya birrea, Balanites aegyptiaca, Boscia senegalensis, and Commiphora africana in the predominantly sandy environments, and Acacia seyal, A. nilotica, Anogeissus leiocarpus, and Ziziphus mauritiania in the more alluvial or clay zones (FAO, 2000). These species are often accompanied by Acacia tortilis, A. erhenbergiana and Leptadenia pyrotechnica in some areas. A non-exhaustive list of fodder species fed to livestock in the Sahel and their nutrient profiles have been reported by Bayala *et al.*, (2014). In their report on the contribution of browse to ruminant nutrition across three agro-ecological zones of Burkina Faso, Zampaligré *et al.*, (2013) listed about 75 species of browse trees. Their nutritive value and preference by cattle and small ruminants were also reported. Farmers, through indigenous knowledge, are aware of available browse tree in their locality and usually feed them to their animals particularly in the dry season. Although the total number of browse species identified was high, only a few species contributed significantly to daily browsing time of ruminants. In terms of preference, Acacia sp. (e.g. *Acacia. seyal, A. dudgeoni, and A. gourmaensis*), Combretum *micranthum* and *Balanites aegyptiaca* were highly preferred by small ruminants in the Sahelian and northern Sudanian zone. Abdulrazak *et al.*, (2000) suggested that the relative importance of *Acacia* sp. and *Balanites aegyptiaca* for small ruminants might be due to their abundance, their easy accessibility on pasture and their relatively good nutritive value.

2.2.4. Crop Residues

Crop residues (CRs) are roughages that become available as livestock feeds after grains have been harvested. Thus, the value of crop residues produced in a particular area will depend on the amount and type of crops grown in that area. As smallholder farmers usually practice mixed crop-livestock farming, crop residues are the most commonly available as livestock feed (Simbaya, 2002).

Crop residues found in West African Sahel include stovers of cereals such as millet, sorghum, maize and haulms of leguminous crops such as cowpea and groundnut, and straws from rice. The spatial distribution of these residues follows the agroecological gradients and the particular crops grown majorly in such zones. In most dry areas, millet is most grown than sorghum and maize (Amole and Ayantunde, 2016a) while maize is most abundant in more moist zones within

West African Sahel. Many of these crop residues are often left in the field after harvest. In the study in the Sudanian region of Burkina Faso, Andrieu et al. (2015) confirmed that farmers left around 80% of cereal crop residues on their fields. Livestock either owned or contracted are allowed to graze them in the field. Beside its benefit as animal feed, crop residues have several other uses such as fuel and construction (Pichot et al., 1974; Bationo et al., 1995). These other uses are outside the focus of this review and therefore will not be discussed further. According to FAO (1999), more than 1000 million tonnes of cereal residues are being produced annually in the developing world. This may probably not be the same at present. It can be observed that most of the crop residues are abundant during the months of October to December (at the end of rainy season) and are in greatest use during the dry season when the available pasture is low in quantity and quality (Borogo et al., 2006). Figures 2 and 3 indicated availability of different feed resources in Northern Burkina Faso and Southern Niger throughout the year in relation to the rainfall patterns. The results of the feed assessment showed that cereal and legume crop residues are the main feed resource throughout the year especially from September during the harvest to June, the beginning of the rains. At the peak of rainy season, livestock relied mainly on the available green forage resources which were cut-and-carried to the animals where they were confined to prevent damage of crops.



Figure 2: Availability of Feed Resources during the year in Thiou, Burkina Faso (Unpublished Amole and Ayantunde 2015).



Figure 3: Availability of Feed Resources during the year in Milli, Niger (Amole and Ayantunde 2016b).

Residues can usually be grouped by crop type —cereals (*maize, rice, wheat, millet, sorghum*) grain legumes (*cowpea, soybean, groundnut*), roots and tubers (*yam, cassava, potatoes*).

According to Jayasuriya (2002), feed resource can be categorized into:

- High fibre-low protein feeds: These include fibrous residues arising from crops grown for human consumption, such as straws and stovers from rice, millet, sorghum and maize, and sugarcane bagasse. Crop residues that fall into this group are characterized by their high fibre content (>700 g of cell wall material/kg DM), low metabolizable energy (<7.5 MJ/kg dry matter), low levels of crude protein (20 - 60 g of crude protein/kg DM) and mineral nutrients, and low to moderate digestibility (<30 - 45% organic matter digestibility).
- 2. High fibre-high protein feeds: By-products derived from crop production (tops and haulms from groundnut, cowpea, sweet potato vine, cassava leaves) and industrial processing (bran from cereal milling rice, wheat and maize bran, brewer's grain), fall into this category of feeds. They are generally less fibrous (below 700 but above 400 g of cell wall material/kg of DM) than those in the first category but have relatively high amounts of crude protein (> 60 g/kg DM). Leaves from tree legumes and browse plants such as Gliricidia, Leucaena and Erythrina, which have around 250 350 g/kg of crude protein in DM, can also be considered in this category.
- 3. Low fibre-low protein feeds: These include feed resources derived from crops grown for renewable energy such as sugarcane by-products and root crops. They are generally rich in energy and low in protein content. Examples of feeds in this category include molasses, oil palm juice and waste material arising from the fruit processing industry (citrus pulp, pineapple waste) and root crops (cassava waste).
- 4. *Low fibre-high protein feeds:* These are the feeds traditionally called concentrates and include oilseed meals and cakes (coconut cake, soybean meal, cotton seed cake, groundnut meal/cake) and animal byproducts (fishmeal, blood meal, feather meal). They are valuable sources of good quality protein for both ruminant and non-ruminant animals.

2.2.4.1. Estimate of crop residue biomass in West Africa Sahel

According to Simbaya (2012), the production of crop residues and by-products can be estimated fairly accurately from estimates of the primary product (e.g. grain), using multipliers which assume grain to residue ratios. The uncertainty of such ratios can be judged by the different multipliers used by different people (Kossila, 1985; Haber *et al.*, 2007). Notwithstanding such discrepancies in the grain to residue ratios for estimating residue yields, it is quite evident that vast quantities of residues are produced as a result of crop cultivation. In 2010, the total quantity of cereal straws was estimated at about 80 million tonnes for all the West African Economic and Monetary Union (known by its French acronym, UEMOA) which includes Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea-Bissau, Mali, Niger, Senegal and Togo. Millet ranked first in terms of residue biomass with about half of the cereal residues, then followed by sorghum (Abdoulaye and Ly 2014).

Savadogo *et al.* (1999) in their study estimated the quantities of crop residues in different subagroecological zones of Burkina Faso, based on crop areas and grain yields derived from the national agro-pastoral statistics (MARA, 1996). The ratios of straw/grain were set to 3 for sorghum and millet, 2 for maize, 1.5 for cowpea and groundnut, 1.25 for rice, and 1 for bambara groundnut (Zongo, 1997). Their results, summarized in the graph below, showed that differences in the quantity CR produced across the sub-agroecology of Burkina Faso. According to the Savadogo *et al* (1999), the region within North Sudano-Sahel has the highest potential to produce much feed resource in terms of CR at the time of the study.



Figure 4: Quantity of crop resides produced across the sub-agroecology of Burkina Faso in 1999 NS: Northern Sahel; SS: Southern Sahel; Sudano-Sahel;

Traore (2016) reported that the only mechanism to monitor the production of crop residues in the Yatenga province of Burkina Faso is the use of the conversion factor and the coefficient of use. The author estimated the average amount of crop residues produced in Yatenga over the last five year (from 2000-2015) which were used as livestock feed as 332,300 tons per year of which 256,900 tons were cereal residues, 12,000 tons were groundnut haulms and 63,400 tons were cowpea haulms.

2.2.4.2. Cereal Crop residues

Millet and sorghum are the most dominant crops in West African Sahel. The stem, sheath and leaves usually refer to as stovers from the cereal crops are used as livestock feed in the target region. Traditionally, pastoralists used to exchange manure and milk for grains (Ayantunde *et*

al. 2011) or for access to graze crop residues (millet, sorghum, maize and rice) on farmers' fields after grain harvest. By so doing, the farmers benefit from the manure deposited by the animals during grazing of crop residues. The quantity of cereal residue available at a given time will depend on the area of cropped land, the varieties of seed, and management practices that influence the yield. Besides, the quantity of crop residues used by the farmers will depend on some interacting factors such as farmers' preferences; household labour, crop production levels; access to alternative biomass resources; livestock management practices and biomass demand (de Leeuw, 1997; Erenstein *et al.*, 2011). Cereal residues could either be collected or left on the field to be grazed. In the study in the Sudanian zone of Burkina Faso, Andrieu *et al.* (2015) confirmed that farmers left around 80% of cereal crop residues on their fields. In terms of quality, depending on location, stage at harvest and other factors, CP content of 7.8% with digestibility coefficient of 50.4% had been reported for millet stover (Powell and Fussell, 1993). Other results showed 3-5% CP for the same crop residue (Nantoumé *et al.*, 2000) and a range of 2.7 to 5.7% was reported for sorghum stover in the Sahel (Kiema *et al.*, 2008).

2.2.4.3. Legume haulms

Common legume crop residues in the Sahel include cowpea hay and groundnut haulms (Fall *et al.*, 2005; Ayantunde *et al.*, 2007). Cowpea hay are an important fodder source for livestock in crop-livestock systems in the Sahel region of West Africa where feed scarcity and seasonality are the major constraints to livestock production (Agyemang, 2002). Cowpea hay can provide adequate protein and energy to sustain ruminant production during an extended dry season (Anele *et al.*, 2011). The leaves and stems of the cowpea hay have been reported to contain CP values of 7.7-21.7% (Kaasschieter *et al.*, 1998; Savadogo *et al.*, 2000) and are often used as a supplement for the low-quality animal feed. The dry matter digestibility of cowpea hay is about 65 to 70% with leaves having a digestibility between 60 and 75% while the stems have a digestibility between 50 and 60% (Karachi and Lefofe, 2004; Savadogo *et al.*, 2000). From

various experiments in Niger, feeding levels between 300 and 600 g day⁻¹ of cowpea hay and 400 g day⁻¹ of millet bran were established for a profitable sheep fattening, along with ad libitum feeding of roughage such as bush hay or millet stover (Hiernaux and Ayantunde 2004; Fernández-Rivera *et al.*, 2005).

Groundnut haulm contains protein (8-15%), lipids (1-3%), minerals (9-17%), and carbohydrate (38-45%) at levels higher than cereal fodder as well as nutrient digestibility of 53% (Singh and Diwakar, 1993). In northern Nigeria, where crop residues supply up to 80% of livestock feed in the dry season (Mortimore, 1991), haulms from cowpea and groundnut produced accounted for 30% of the total roughage supply and 75% of the total CP output of livestock (Hendy, 1977). Although, such figures may not apply in the current situation

Therefore, the proportions of leaves and stems in the haulm directly affect its nutritional value (Mullen, 1999; Singh *et al.*, 2010). The results from feeding trials by Savadogo *et al.* (2000) showed that the intake of cowpea hay by sheep was 86 g OM/kg BW^{0.75}/d, and the selective consumption of leaves results in higher intakes of protein and digestible OM than expected from the offered haulms (Savadogo *et al.*, 2000). In sheep fed 200-400 g/d of cowpea haulms as a supplement to a basal diet of sorghum stover in Northern Nigeria, the resulting average live-weight gain (80 g/d) was twice that obtained with sorghum fodder alone (Singh *et al.*, 2003).

Bayala *et al.*, (2014) reviewed 23 publications on various results from trials where crop residues from cereals and legumes were combined into feed rations tested during the dry season in Burkina Faso, Mali, Niger and Senegal. We presented the proximate nutrient composition of various crop residues as reported by some authors in the West Africa context. These results represent a few of several results documented in West Africa. Variations in nutritional profile of crop residue across West Africa is expected as nutrients compositions per time are attributable to different factors such as: stage of harvest, physical composition, i.e. the proportion of stems to leaves ratio, period and mode of storage, cultural practices, harvesting practices, soil fertility (Smith, 1988; Adebowale, 1988).

2.2.4.4. Utilization of crop residue in West African Sahel

The crop residues of cereals may be left in the field as grazing material for livestock. They may be used as mulch, transported to the homestead for stall feeding, used as fencing, building, or roofing materials, or as fuel. The legumes, on the other hand, could be harvested and conserved either for dry-season feeding for the farmers' animals or for sale to other farmers during the critical period of feed scarcity in the mid-to-late dry season (Singh and Tarawali, 1997).

	Feeding	Mulching	Burnt	Sold	Gift	Fuel	Construction
Sorghum	66.2	7.7	26.2	0	0	0	0
Millet	60	0	34	0	0	0	0
Groundnut	91.3	7.9	0.8	0	0	0	0
Cowpea	96.2	0	0	3.8	0	0	0
Means of crop	residues utiliz	ation from thre	e communitie	es in souther	n Mali (Umu	toni and Ay	antunde, 2014)
Sorghum	59	8	2	6	2	28	5
Millet	34	24	2	5	5	22	8
Groundnut	80	0	0	15	5	0	0
Cowpea	70	3	0	25	4	0	0
Mean Crop residue uses (%) in Fakara, Maradi (Niger) and Kano (Nigeria) (Akinola et al., 2015)							
Cereal	68.2	15.7	0	0	0	8.2	0.4
Legume	100	0	0	0	0	0	0

Table 2: Different uses of crop residues in three locations within the West Africa Sahel

Means of crop residues utilization from three communities in Ouahigouya, Burkina Faso (Unpublished data by Amole and Ayantunde 2015)

2.2.4.5. Limitations of crop residues as animal feed

Beside the trade-offs and competitive use of crop residues described above, the most obvious limitation to the utilization of CR as ruminant feed is the low feeding value associated with low metabolizable energy, low protein and mineral contents, which cannot support adequate microbial growth or meet the host animal's nutrient requirement for increased performance (Simbaya, 2012). Crop residues are high in fibre and are poorly degraded in the rumen with low nitrogen and minerals resulting in very low intakes.

In addition, seasonal fluctuation in the quantity of crop residues is another major challenge that has been associated with low rainfall and poor soil fertility in the Sahel (Fernandez-Rivera *et al.*, 2005). In studying the seasonal effect on livestock feed resources in Fakara, Southwestern Niger Fernandez-Rivera *et al.* (2005) showed that the end of the growing season for herbage and the peak of availability of millet stover occur simultaneously. Moderate to high amounts of millet stover were available in Gourdjia and Milli in Niger from harvest time to February (middle of the dry season) but the last 3 months (April-June) of dry season were characterized by acute feed scarcity (Amole and Ayantunde, 2016b). Farmers in the study areas also noted that cereal crop residues are more in abundance than legumes. Hence, cereal straws were normally fed to the animal first, while legumes are fed at critical times when the feeds are scarce or as supplement.

Residues	Arid – Semi-arid	Humid – Sub-humid
Sorghum straw	October – April	September – April
Millet straw	September – May	September – April
Maize straw	September – May	July – March
Rice straw	January - December	January – December
Cowpea haulm	October - April	August – January
Groundnut haulm	October - April	November – April
Yam peel	n.a	January – December

Table 3: Seasonal availability of crop residues in West African Sahel

Cassava peel	n.a	
1		

FAO, 2014; n.a: not available

Another reason for the restricted use of crop-residues in the smallholder livestock production systems is the lack of storage facilities for residues for use in the dry season (Simbaya, 2012). There is also a shortage of labor for handling and storage of crop-residues on the farm. Due to their high bulk density, transportation of these materials to homesteads may not be economical. The distribution of crop-residue production does not often correspond with animal distribution, thereby causing a shortfall in some areas and a surplus in others (Simbaya, 2012). According to Williams *et al.* (1997), availability of crop residues at the farm level depends not just on production levels but also on a variety of social and economic factors, cultural practices, the use of modern crop varieties and the opportunities for market and non-market exchanges. Inter-annual fluctuations in rainfall can also affect crop residue yield, which may in turn affect the ratio between edible and non-edible fractions within residues



Plate 1: Methods of storing crop residues in Milli, Niger (Photo credit: Tunde Amole/ILRI)

2.2.4.6. Improving the nutritional value and use of crop residues

There are a number of technologies available to improve the nutritional value of crop residues. They include physical treatment (grinding, chopping, soaking, boiling), chemical treatment (with urea, NaOH, etc.), biological treatment, supplementation and excess feeding to stimulate selective consumption of the more nutritious parts (Savadogo *et al.*, 1999). The suitability of each of these methods for animal production depends on the availability of crop residues and alternative feeds, availability of labor, availability and cost of water and chemicals, and storage facilities.

2.2.4.6.1. Chemical treatments

The technology includes treatment of crop residues with alkaline chemicals such as sodium and ammonium hydroxides. Even though chemical treatment has proved beneficial in increasing the intake and digestibility of residues, its adoption particularly in rural areas is limited due to the cost and availability of these chemicals (Simbaya, 2002). There is also the danger of toxicity to the animals. The most promising technique is the urea treatment of crop residues or the use of urea/molasses mineral blocks. For decades, there has been a comprehensive report on different methods of treating CR by several authors in West Africa (Aruwayo, 2018; Djibrillou *et al.*,1998)

Methods	As Description Referenced results		Associated problems	Alternative solution
Chemical treatment	The use of sodium hydroxide (NaOH), ammonia (NH ₃) and urea	Increases in <i>in-vitro</i> as well as <i>in-vivo</i> digestibility and intake of treated crop residues with NaOH (Ibrahim and Pearce, 1983; Doyle <i>et al.</i> , 1986).	Problems of availability, health risks, costs, handling and additional labor limits	A cheaper and relatively available alternative is the use of alkalis available to the farmer such as ashes left after burning of wood, oil palm bunches and cocoa (Smith, 1993).
		Increased crude protein (CP) from 4.6 percent in untreated rice straw to 11.9 percent in urea treated straw (Jaiswal <i>et al.</i> , 1988; Ngele <i>et al.</i> 2009)	The danger of toxicity	
		It breaks down the lignocellulose bonds of the residue, increasing the rate and extent of rumen microbial digestion (Amata, 2014; Ramirez <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2007; Oji <i>et al</i> , 2007).		
Physical treatment	Grinding, chopping, pelleting, soaking and densification	Reduction in the soluble cell material and <i>in vitro</i> digestibility of cowpea vines. (Ibrahim and Pearce, 1983; Doyle <i>et al.</i> , 1986).	The cost and labor involved, energy intensity and marginal ineffectiveness	Market-oriented feed producers. developing inexpensive manual driven or fuel-efficient choppers could be an option
		Increased intakes and performance of sheep (Osafo <i>et al.</i> , 1994)		More investment at the community level for a simple machine to ease manual chopping
Biological treatment	Enzyme addition, fungal growth, fermentation, composting and ensiling are some of the	Improve digestibility (Ibrahim and Pearce, 1980; Ryu, 1989)<i>P. ostreatus</i> treatment for 15 days on corn straw increased crude	Associated with some loss of dry organic matter. Required more technical training for smallholder's farmers.	More research is needed at farm levels.

Table 4: List of different methods of crop residue treatments, constraints and solutions

	biological methods that have been used to increase the digestibility of crop residues	protein (39.5%) and decreased neutral detergent fibre (14.5%). Ramirez-Bribiesca <i>et al.</i> (2010)		
Supplementation	Addition of protein-rich feed resource to improve feed intake	Sorghum stover and wheat straw supplemented with urea-molasses and rice straw supplemented with oil palm slurry improve intake and performance. (Kayouli C. 1994).	Inadequate knowledge on appropriate ratios of supplement to basal crop residue, expensive ingredients	Building farmers capacity in ration formulation is essential



Plate 2: Crop residues in the fodder market near Gourdjia, Niger (Photo: Amole Tunde/ILRI)



Plate 3: Fodder market in Niamey, Niger (Photo credit: Abdou Dan-Gomma/INRA)

In Niger, Kayouli (1996) observed that the consumption of urea-treated forages during the dry season is often accompanied by an improvement in body condition of the animals and maintenance of live weight. In another trial in the northern part of Nigeria. Singh *et al.* (2011) reported that feeding the residue of cereals alone resulted in a mean weight loss of 14% for sorghum, 16% for maize and 11% for millet, while feeding the residues of cowpea or groundnut

alone resulted in the weight gain of about 13 and 12%, respectively. Furthermore, Singh *et al.* (2011) reported supplementing the cereals residues with about 300 g of legume residues per ram per day resulted in a slight gain in weight. The addition of 300 g wheat bran and 300 g legume residues to the cereals in the daily diets of each ram resulted in about 19% mean weight gain.

2.2.4.6.1. Improved conservation method

Conservation is an avenue for ensuring continuity in ruminant feed availability. It ensures the maintenance of ruminant animals at the crucial period especially during the dry season (Aina, 2012). Although the nutritive qualities differ from those of fresh materials, adequate levels of nutrients are retained in conserved feed to merit the use in the dry season (McCullough, 1988). Even though storage aims to preserve the quality and quantity of feed for later use, losses of nutrients, particularly crude protein, during the storage process have been reported. Nevertheless, Antwi *et al.*, (2011) confirmed that storing in a shed system of storage retains the quality and availability of haulm in respect of the dry matter and crude protein contents of dual-purpose cowpea haulm.

2.2.4.6.2. Supplementation of poor-quality livestock feed resources

Nutrient supplements could be used to improve the utilization of poor-quality forage; the nutrient supplements enhance the intake and digestibility of poor-quality forage by promoting the activities of rumen microorganisms. Hay and silage could be supplemented with molasses/urea mixture, whole cottonseed groundnut cakes or other suitable supplements such as mineral supplements, protein supplements, non-protein nitrogen e.g. urea in order boost its nutritional content to increase animal productivity (Fajemisin *et al.*, 2011).

2.2.4.7. Market potentials of crop residues

Feed marketing exists at many levels, with informal selling of residues directly off the farms to nearby livestock farmers, marketing of bundled residues along roadsides and in or around livestock markets (Grings *et al.*, 2010). These livestock feed markets are normally situated near livestock markets and they mainly sell crop residues such as cowpea hay and groundnut haulms, agricultural by-products such as cottonseed cake and cereal bran, concentrate feed from small scale feed industry, and leaves from various shrubs and green fodder harvested from the natural pastures. Ayantunde *et al.* (2014) reported that feed markets have sprung up in many cities and towns of West African Sahel in response to growing livestock populations in peri-urban areas. In another report from Yatenga province of Burkina Faso, Traore (2016) confirmed the existence of fodder market with many identified actors (collectors, wholesalers, retailer, transporter) supporting their livelihood from fodder marketing.

The sale of crop residues (cowpea hay, groundnut haulms, cakes and bran) is a major source of household income to crop farmers (Williams *et al.* 1997; Ayantunde *et al.* 2007). In their review on fodder and pasture production, Bayala *et al.*, (2014) presented prices of the livestock feed in peri-urban areas of Burkina Faso, Mali, Niger and Senegal. The price from existing fodder market in Mali (Umutoni *et al.*, 2015) and prices of feeds purchased from fodder markets were also reported by Amole and Ayantunde (2016b). In terms of types of fodder marketed, Abdoulaye and Ly (2014), reported that cereal straw is virtually never traded, especially in semi-arid zones, where it is left on the field unless used by the household (fuel, construction, etc.). Yet others have reported sales of cereal residue in Burkina Faso and Niger (Amole and Ayantunde (2016a, b). However, this trend as reported by Abdoulaye and Ly (2004) may be limited to rural communities where most households grow cereals and often leave the residues on the field for grazing by animals. We noted that price of crop residue varies in spatial and temporal.

Nevertheless, key issues around crop residue marketing are the non-availability all year-round which influences the pricing. Generally, the price of crop residues (particularly legumes) corresponded with availability (Grings *et al.*, 2010). The highest price was reported during the wet season (June to September) and lowest immediately after harvest (October and November). Other agricultural by-products, such as cottonseed cake and cereal bran, and of concentrate feeds did not vary significantly across the seasons, suggesting adequate year-round availability (Ayantunde *et al.*, 2014). Poor storage methods or lack of facilities limits all-year-round availability of crop residue especially cowpea haulms. Grings *et al.*, (2010) reported that improved storage methods will decrease leaf loss after harvest and could improve the market value of cowpea haulms over a longer period of the year.

Seasonal variation in the quality of the crop residues is observed even in fodder marketing. The survey on the emerging feed markets for ruminant production in urban and peri-urban areas of Northern Ghana by Konlan *et al.* (2018) revealed that there were seasonal variations in the quality of feed resources in the sampled areas. For instance, crude protein (CP) of groundnut haulm was 9.8 and 12.2 % in the early dry season and late dry season, respectively. Notable variations were also recorded for fibre, metabolizable energy (ME) and digestibility of the identified feed resources in Ghana? (Tables 7). In terms of quantity and availability during the dry season, crop residues provided the bulk of feed resources in the Sahel. However, its contribution to dietary dry matter and ME and CP was quite low (Amole and Ayantunde, 2016b). This could probably be attributed to poor quality of the crop residues resulting from factors such as harvest time, poor storage methods and a generally low nutritional status of cereal straws.

2.2.5. Agro-industrial byproducts

Agro-industrial byproducts (AIBPs) are waste products arising from the processing of crop or animal products by industries while some other agro-byproducts are mainly from household processing of some agricultural products (Alhassan *et al*, 1989; Sindhu *et al.*, 2002). The use of AIBP as part of livestock feed can reduce the cost of production, improve the quality of feed, ensure regular feed supply even during the period of scarcity and ultimately increase the profit margin of livestock farmers (Sindhu *et al.*, 2002).

Generally, agro-industrial by-products are listed as energy, protein and combined protein/energy sources (Aregheore, 1998). Energy sources are rich in fermentable carbohydrates and low in protein. A few examples are molasses, a by-product of the sugar industry, (75 % DM, 4.1 % CP and 12.7 GE MJ/kg DM), cereal byproducts such as brewers' spent grains and bran from wheat, rice and maize (Cheeke, 1991). Some are protein-rich products such as cakes and meals. Examples are soya bean meal which can contain 48% crude protein (Obese, 1998), palm kernel meal (18 % CP) and copra meal (18.8 % CP), cocoa husk (Otchere et al, 1986), cotton seed and soya bean cake (Avornyo et al., 2001). Local cereal brans (millet bran, sorghum bran) are examples of household agro-byproducts. With the quantity of bran estimated based on the conversion factors of the quantities of seeds provided (Kossila, 1988), Sahelian countries were reported as the largest producers of cereal bran in West Africa (FAO 2014). Feed resources in Katsina state, Northern Nigeria is chiefly mainly cereal and legume crop residues, concentrate (AIBPs) and green forage in that order and are available in a declining manner as the dry season prevails from January till June (figure 5). The report of feed assessment noted that farmers acquired more livestock after the harvest for fattening between 5 to 6 months (Unpublished Amole and Ayantunde 2014). As the feed quantity declines, farmers dispose their animal to purchase farm inputs in preparation for the next cropping season. In the production system, farmers depend largely on purchased feed (cotton seed cake) for fattening and other AIBPs throughout the year (Unpublished Amole and Ayantunde 2014).



Figure 5: Availability of Feed Resources during the year in Yakubawa, Nigeria (Unpublished Amole and Ayantunde 2014).

2.2.5.1. Constraints to the use of agro-industrial by-products

Apart from the inter-annual variability, there is a great variability in quantities available, due to specificity of crop grown in different areas. Beside the constraints of seasonality and price, there are varieties of anti-nutritional factors, including various toxic compounds, which are deleterious to animal health and performance have been also reported in some AIBPs (Aregheore, 2000). Gossypol, a polyphenolic pigment present in the kernel and coat of the seed has been reported in many cotton by-products and mycotoxins contamination, mostly common Aspergillus flavus in groundnut cake (FAO 2014). Other limitation is the usual unavailability and unaffordability for farmers

However, a number of technologies and methods have been developed to detoxify or at least minimize the effect of these toxins or anti-nutritional factors (Sindhu *et al.*, 2002). For example, the high lignin content of unprocessed bagasse (Bhatti and Khan, 1996) which renders it poorly digestible has reportedly been improved by high-pressure treatment. This treatment improved both palatability and digestibility of bagasse (Morrison and Brice, 1984). Another major problem with bran is its relatively low nitrogen content, even though, according to the process, some proteins can be found, namely in rice or wheat bran. Beside this is the risk associated with mould and therefore of fungal contamination during conservation (FAO 2014).

3. Knowledge gaps and lesson learnt in addressing feed challenges in West African Sahel

In this review, we have identified different feed resources, their potentials, challenges and gaps in the knowledge from past to improving the utilization of these resources. However, we discussed under this section other gaps regarding feeds and feeding issues in the West African Sahel and also provide lessons for future efforts in addressing feed challenges in the region.

In most of the reviewed publication on feeds and feeding issues in West African Sahel, feed scarcity was presented as a general problem without adequate information about the trends in supply and demand. Without such information, appropriate long-term strategies for addressing problems of feeds and feeding challenges cannot be developed and implemented. In addition, the assumption of inadequate feed supply in a location premised on the evidence of purchased feed in that location may be faulty because the question of whether the purchased feeds meet the nutritional demand remains unanswered.

Secondly, the efficacy of newly introduced technologies with respect to conservation, storage and processing of different feed resources to mitigate spatial and temporal feed supply, and demand problems is not well understood. In most of WAS, livestock production and the target interventions are not market-oriented, consequently productivity indices are not well-defined to evaluate impact of several interventions. In addition, limitations in knowledge and skills on various aspects of feed such as production, processing, quality assessment marketing has been identified etc.

There is no doubt livestock production requires full participation of women. Despite their considerable involvement and contribution, women's role in livestock production has been underestimated, undervalued and widely under-reported. Women face several challenges in accessing and having control over the resources that are linked to fodder and feed production. These barriers stem from a number of cultural and socio-economic barriers. Women are often constrained by the availability of manual labour and since often, feed improvement techniques involve labour, women are disadvantaged. Access to training can also be problematic either because of their existing workloads or because they require consent from their husbands to participate. Ensuring women's access to extension services, knowledge, credit and technologies is therefore critical. In addition, most feed intervention projects are not well linked to household nutrition and social needs as increase in men's earnings from livestock-related activities may not necessarily translate into improved household nutrition; whereas, women tend to prioritize household well-being. Identifying this gap will provide insight for specific measures at project design to guarantee women's participation.

In solving feed challenges in the Sahelian agro-ecological zone of West Africa in order to meet the future feed demand, we recommend three general approaches namely identification of specific feed interventions suitable for each target area, options to produce more feed resources and ways of improving the existing and the new feed resources by providing basket of options for improving feeding values of CR and strengthening the fodder market structure.

3.1. Identify site-specific feed intervention

In developing good and sustainable technological interventions to address the problem of feed shortage, it is necessary to assess the existing and potential feed resources, use, costs and gaps with respect to ruminant production to meet the requirements of livestock. These evaluations will guide the development of effective strategies to improve nutrition and livestock productivity based on locally available feed resources. Decision-support tools have the potential to play an important role. For example, FEAST (Feed Assessment Tool, https://sites.google.com/a/cgxchange.org/feast) is an example of a decision support tool that presents an evolving methodology for conducting rapid appraisals of livestock feed issues in smallholder livestock systems. FEAST uses a systematic method for assessing local feed resource availability and use with a view to design intervention strategies aimed at optimizing feed utilization and animal production. The results of some FEAST conducted in West African Sahel with an inventory of feed resources in the study areas and priority feed intervention strategies have been documented (Amole and Ayantunde, 2016a, b; Umutoni *et al.*, 2015).

3.2. Providing basket of options for improving feeding values of CR

With the dominant role of crop residues in dry season feeding, especially in the late season, Smith (2012) remarked that livestock farmers need to know the options available for them to optimize the available CRs. We reviewed these options and came up with a diagrammatic *"basket of options"* (Figure 6) from which livestock farmers in the Sahel could select according to their preferences based on knowledge and available resources. In fact, a combination of whatever is possible based on farmers' production options and the afore-mentioned criteria will be most appropriate. This could be through the cultivation of more dual-purpose crops and through increased cultivation of fodder species, particularly in peri-urban livestock systems. Combining this option with early harvest of crop residues, best storage methods or facilities and appropriate crop residue treatments or ration formulation could improve the availability of all-year-round quality feed. Multi-partners approach involving research and development partners will be needed to ensure better access to these higher feed producing varieties and other inputs.



Figure 6: Basket of options for optimizing available crop residues

3.3. Strengthening the fodder market structure.

Fodder markets exist and keep growing in rural areas and cities in the Sahel, from selling of residues at the farm gate to selling of mixed concentrates at designated places (Grings *et al.*, 2010). Samireddypalle *et al.* (2017) highlighted the fact that crop residues are a tradable commodity and constitute a value chain requiring collection from the field, transport by middlemen and trading by wholesalers and retailers. Yet the market is still far away from being well-organized and the value chain is still weak with lots of unprofessional actors. Traore (2016) therefore recommended that institutional support is needed to organize actors in the

forage value chain, establishing mechanisms for information, monitoring and analysis of feed prices and strengthening the stakeholders' knowledge of forage processing and conservation. Facilitation of link between all the actors in feed value chain will promote feed densification and utilization (The World Bank, 2012). The livestock production systems have to be marketoriented for there to be an incentive to invest in feeds.

3.4. Institutional and policy landscape

The feed resource sector is largely neglected by the policymakers and suffers from a limited availability of data and statistics, despite its significant contribution to livestock productivity and development. A lack of appropriate policy frameworks is one of the main reasons why scaling up of livestock feed interventions fails or does not happen at the expected scale. Effective and coherent feed policies are crucial to capitalize on the growing opportunities offered to smallholder livestock producers by the increasing demand for animal source food in WA and the developing countries in general. In response to this, livestock-related policies should, therefore, not be designed in isolation. There should be participation of institutions that represent both the poor smallholders and the commercial enterprises and all actors in the livestock and livestock feed value chains.

One of the effective tools for policy influence will be the formation of innovation platforms (IP). Through an iterative process of consultation, IPs provide an opportunity for main actors in a feed value chain to analyze, plan and adopt production and related policy issues. While engaging policymakers at local and national levels to increase understanding of livestock-related issues, IPs can instrumental in identifying shortcomings of existing policies and the need to formulate new ones.

4. Conclusion

Our review presented a number of literature identifying common feed resources for livestock production in West Africa Sahel. Among these feed resources (naturally occurring pastures, agro-industrial byproducts and household byproduct and crop residues), crop residues constitute a major source of livestock feed after pastures particularly due to a long period of dry season. Seasonal variation in availability and quality resulting in low livestock productivity in the region has been a major problem associated with feed resources in the Sahel. As crop production intensifies with improved seed systems and good management practices, there will be a potential increase in the quantity of crop residues in the Sahelian zone. Several proven methods of improving the feeding value of crop residue and possible alternatives to eliminate the challenges associated with adopting some of them were reviewed in this report. Above all, the challenges remain developing new methods and improving the existing storage methods to extend its use in till the end of dry season. Furthermore, with evidence of feed markets at different levels in the Sahelian rural areas and urban cities, we discussed the opportunities around feed marketing as a springboard to promoting a market-oriented feed production system. Strengthening the weak nexus among feed value chain actors is critical for improving feed marketing. Public and private investments are necessary for the dissemination of information and skills through training, machinery, feed storage and transport strategies to facilitate means of improving the production and use of livestock feed.

Given the complex socio-ecological context of the Sahel, making assumptions about animal productivity in relation to anticipated demands for livestock products without basing this on an empirical assessment of the potential of the natural resources to provide the nutritious biomass required could result in unsustainable solution. Every effort towards developing sustainable technological interventions to address the problem of feed shortage in the Sahelian region should assess the existing and potential feed resources, use, costs and gaps with respect to ruminant production to meet the requirements of livestock.

References

- Abdoulaye S.G. and Ly C. 2014. Crop residues and agro-industrial by-products in West Africa Situation and way forward for livestock production. FAO regional office for Africa Accra Food and Agriculture Organization of The United Nations Rome, 2014
- Abdulrazak S.A., Fujihara T., Ondiek J.K. and Ørskov E.R. 2000. Nutritive evaluation of some Acacia tree leaves from Kenya. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 85, 89-98
- Adebowale E.A. 1988. An overview of recent trends and developments in the use of unconventional feed ingredients for ruminant animals: applicability to the Nigerian conditions. Proceedings of National Workshop on Alternative Formulations of Livestock Feeds in Nigeria, organized by the Economic Affairs Office, The Presidency, held at ARMTI, Ilorin, 21-25 November 1988, pp. 544-578.
- Aduku A.O. 2004. Animal Nutrition in the tropics feeds and feeding, pastures management, Monogastric and ruminant nutrition. Davicom, Zaria, Kaduna, Nigeria. Pp. 17.
- Agyemang K. 2012. Crop-based agriculture and livestock integration: conception principles and practice in Sub-Saharan Africa. In: H. K. Dei, F.K. Avornyo and N. Karbo (Eds.), Proceeding of regional workshop on sustainable intensification of crop-livestock systems in Ghana for increased farm productivity and food/nutrition security. August 27–28. 2012. Tamale, Ghana, pp. 0–031
- Aina A.B.J. 2012. Goat (*Capra hircus*): A Misunderstood Animal. 35th Inaugural Lecture 2012, Federal University of Agriculture Abeokuta, Nigeria. 28th March, 2012.
- Akinola A. A., Abdoulaye T., Valbuena D., Erenstein O., Haileslasie A., Germaine I., Shehu M. and Ayedun B. 2016 Determinants of crop residue use along an intensification gradient in West Africa's savannah zones. *Tropicultura* 2016, 34, 4, 396-410
- Alhassan W.S. and Akorfur V.A. 1982. Influence of oil palm slurry on the digestibility of rice straw by sheep. *Journal of Animal Production Research* 2: 81–89.
- Amata I.A. 2014. The use of non-conventional feed resources (NCFR) for livestock feeding in the tropics: a review. *Journal of Global Biosciences*, 3(2): 604-613.
- Amole T.A. and Ayantunde A.A. 2016a. Improving livestock productivity: Assessment of feed resources and livestock management practices in Sudan-Savanna zones of West Africa. *African journal of agricultural research.* 11. 422-440. 10.5897/AJAR2015.10460.
- Amole T.A. and Ayantunde A.A. 2016b Assessment of Existing and Potential Feed Resources for Improving Livestock Productivity in Niger. *International Journal of Agricultural Research*, 11 (2): 40-55, 2016
- Andrieu N., Vayssières J., Corbeels M, Blanchard M., Vall E. and Tittonell P. 2015. From farm scale synergies to village scale trade-offs: Cereal crop residues use in an agro-pastoral system of the Sudanian zone of Burkina Faso. *Agricultural Systems* 134: 84–96
- Anele U. Y., Sudekum K. H., Hummel J., Arigbede O. M., Oni A. O., Olanite J. A., Bottger C., Ojo V. O. and Jolaosho A. O. 2011. Chemical characterization, in vitro dry matter and ruminal crude protein degradability and microbial protein synthesis of some cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) haulm varieties. *Animal Feed Science Technology* 163 (2-4): 161-169
- Antwi C., Osafo E.L.K., Fisher D.S., Yacout H.M., Hassan A.A. and Adu-Dapaah H. 2011. Storage practices and their effect on nutrient and haulm availability of four dual-purpose

cultivars of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.walp) haulm. *Ghanaian Journal of Animal Science*, 5(2): 1-9.

- Aregheore E. M. 2000. Crop Residues and Agro-industrial By-products in Four Pacific Island Countries: Availability, Utilisation and Potential Value in Ruminant Nutrition. Asian-Australian Journal of Animal Science 13 Supplement July 2000 B: 266-269.
- Aregheore E. M 1998. Application of biotechnology to improve feed resources for ruminant livestock nutrition in the South Pacific. *Journal of South Pacific Agriculture* 15(2): 31 -38.
- Arigbede O.M., Anele U.Y., Jolaosho O.A., Onifade O.S., Olanite J.A. and Wahab T.A. 2007. Seasonal chemical composition and in-vitro gas production of African Bread fruits (*Treculiar africana* var. Decne) dry matter, organic matter and crude protein degradability of some indigenous multipurpose tree species by West African dwarf goats. Proceedings forage symposium 'Forage- a Pathway to prosperity for smallholder farmers' held at Faculty of Agriculture. Ubon Ratchathani University, Thailand between 5th -7th March, 2007. Pp 338-343.
- Aruwayo A. 2018. Use of Urea Treated Crop Residue in Ruminant Feed. International Journal of Advances in Scientific Research and Engineering (ijasre). http://doi.org/10.31695/IJASRE.2018.32794
- Atta-Krah A.N. Sumberg J. E. and Reynolds L. 1986. Leguminous fodder trees in the farming system - an overview of research at the humid zone programme of ILCA in southwestern Nigeria. Proc. Potentials of forage legumes in farming systems of sub-Saharan Africa. (Eds. Haque I. Jutzi, S. and Weate, P.J.) ILCA, Addis Ababa, p. 307-329.
- Ayantunde A. A., Delfosse P., Fernandez-Rivera S., Gerard B. and Dan-Gomma A. 2007. Supplementation with groundnut haulms for sheep fattening in the West African Sahel. *Tropical Animal Health and Production* 39: 207-216
- Ayantunde A.A., de Leeuw J., Turner M.D. and Said M. 2011. Challenges of assessing the sustainability of (agro)-pastoral systems. *Livestock Science* 139: 30-43
- Ayantunde A.A., Fernandez-Rivera S., Hiernaux P.H. and Tabo R. 2008. Implications of restricted access to grazing by cattle in wet season in the Sahel. *Journal of Arid Environment*, 72: 523-533
- Ayantunde A.A., Fernandez-Rivera S., Hiernaux P.H.Y., van Keulen H., Udo H.M.J. and Chanono M. 2000. Effect of nocturnal grazing and supplementation on diet selection, eating time, forage intake and weight changes of cattle. *Animal Science*, 71: 333-340.
- Baffes J. 2010. Marchés des sous-produits du coton: Tendances mondiales et implications pour les producteurs Africains de coton. Rapport pour la Banque mondiale. http://wwwwds.worldbank.org/external/default/WDSContentServer/WDSP/IB/2010/0 8/19/000158349_20100819151912/ Rendered/PDF/WPS5355.pdf.
- Bakoye O., Baoua I., Sitou L., Moctar M.R., Amadou L., Njoroge A.W., Murdock L.L., and Baributsa D. 2019 Groundnut Production and Storage in the Sahel: Challenges and Opportunities in the Maradi and Zinder Regions of Niger. *Journal of Agricultural Science*, Vol. 11, 4: 2019.
- Bationo A., Buerkert A., Sedogo M.P., Christianson B.C. and Mokwunye A.U. 1995. A critical review of crop-residue uses as soil amendment in the West African semiarid tropics. In: Powell, J.M., Fernández-Rivera, S., Williams, T.O. and Renard, C. (eds), Livestock and

Sustainable Nutrient Cycling in Mixed Farming Systems of sub-Saharan Africa, vol. 2: Technical Papers. Proceedings of an International Conference, 22-26 November 1993, International Livestock Centre for Africa (ILCA), Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, pp. 305-322

- Bayala J., Ky-Dembele C., Kalinganire A., Alain O. and Hamidou N. 2014. A review of pasture and fodder production and productivity for small ruminants in the Sahel. ICRAF Occasional Paper No. 21. Nairobi: World Agroforestry Centre
- Bayala J., Sileshi G.W., Coe R., Kalinganire A., Tchoundjeu Z., Sinclair F. and Garrity D. 2012.
 Cereal yield response to conservation agriculture practices in drylands of West Africa: A quantitative synthesis. *Journal of Arid Environments* 78: 13-25.
- Bell A.W. and Paul L. 2016. Nutrition during gestation influences postnatal productivity of ruminant livestock. Broadening Horizons 30, Feedipedia (available at: <u>http://www.feedipedia.org/content/nutrition-during-gestation-influences-postnatalproductivity-ruminant-livestock</u>)
- Bhatti M.B. and Khan S. 1996. Fodder Production in Pakistan. FAO PARC, Islamabad, Pakistan.
- Birie-Habas 1965. Comportement d'espèces fourragères introduites en Casamance. Colloque STRC (OAÙ)-FAO. Sur les fourrages et jachères fourragères (Kampala), comptes rendus, Sols africains, vol. X, n° 2.
- Blummel M., Wright L.A. and Hegde N.G. 2010. Climate Change Impacts on Livestock Production and Adaptation Strategies: A Global Scenario National Symposium on Climate Change and Rainfed Agriculture 18-20, February 2010 CRIDA, Hyderabad, India.
- Breman H. and de Wit C.T. 1983. Rangeland productivity and exploitation in the Sahel. *Science*, 30;221(4618):1341-7
- Cheeke P.R. 1991. Cereal milling by-products. In: Applied Animal Nutrition: Feeds and Feeding. New York: Macmillan, pp. 53–57.
- de Leeuw P.N. 1997. Crop residues in tropical Africa: trends in supply, demand and use C. Renard (Ed.), Crop residues in sustainable mixed crop/livestock farming systems, CAB International, ICRISAT, ILRI, Wallingford (1997), pp. 41-77
- Dicko M.S., Djitèye M.A. and Sangaré M. 2006. Les systèmes de production animale au Sahel. *Sécheresse* 17 (1-2): 83-97.
- Diop A.T., Touré O., Ickowicz A. and Diouf A. 2005. Les ressources sylvopastorales. In: Institut Sénégalais de Recherches Agricoles/Institut de Technologie Alimentaire/Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement. Bilan de la recherche agricole et agroalimentaire au Sénégal, pp 91-105
- Djibrillou A.O., Pandey V., Gouro S. and Verhulst A. 1998. Effect of urea treated or untreated straw with cotton seed on performances of lactating Maradi (Red Sokoto) goats in Niger. *Livestock Production Science*. 55. 10.1016/S0301-6226(98)00130-4.
- Doyle P.T., Devendra C. and Pearce G.R. 1986. Rice straw as a Feed for Ruminants. International Development Program of Australian Universities and Colleges. Canberra, Australia.
- Erenstein O., Samaddar A., Teufel N. and Blümmel M. 2011. The paradox of limited maize stover use in India's smallholder crop-livestock systems. *Experimental Agriculture*, 47: 677-704

- Fajemisin A.N., Fadiyimu A.A., and Alokan I.A. 2011. Dietary effects of corn cobs ensiled with lye, poultry litter and urea on performance characteristics of West African Dwarf rams. Proceedings of 36th Conference Nigerian Society for Animal Production, 13-16th March 2011. Pp771-773.
- Fall S.T., Rippstein G. and Corniaux C. 2005. Les fourrages et les aliments du bétail. In: Institut Sénégalais de Recherches Agricoles/Institut de Technologie Alimentaire/Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement. Bilan de la recherche agricole et agroalimentaire au Sénégal, pp 267-279.
- FAO. 1999. The State of Food Insecurity in the World 1999, Rome. ISBN 92-5-104328-0
- FAO. 2012. Impact of animal nutrition on animal welfare Expert Consultation 26–30 September 2011 – FAO Headquarters, Rome, Italy. Animal Production and Health Report. No. 1. Rome (http://www.fao.org/docrep/017/i3148e/i3148e00.pdf).
- FAO/IAEA 2003. Applications of gene-based technologies for improving animal production and health in developing countries. Final Report of International Symposium. Vienna, Austria, October 2003. Retrieved on March 2, 2019 from the website http://www.iaea.org/programmes/nafa/d3/mtc/final-report-int-symposium.pdf.
- FAO. 2011. Mapping supply and demand for animal-source foods to 2030, by T.P. Robinson & F. Pozzi. Animal Production and Health Working Paper. No. 2. Rome Federal Ministry of Agriculture and Rural Development (FMARD). 2016. The Agriculture Promotion Policy (2016-2020) Building on the Successes of the ATA, Closing Key Gaps.
- FAO. 2014. Crop residues and agro-industrial by-products in West Africa Situation and way forward for livestock production Food and Agriculture Organization of The United Nations Rome, 2014. ISBN 978-92-5-108113-6 (print) E-ISBN 978-92-5-108114-3 (PDF).
- Fernández-Rivera S., Hiernaux P., Williams T.O., Turner M. D., Schlecht E., Salla A., Ayantunde A.A. and Sangaré M. 2005. Nutritional constraints to grazing ruminants in the millet-cowpea-livestock farming system of the Sahel. In: Ayantunde A.A., Fernández-Rivera S., McCrabb G. (eds) Coping with Feed Scarcity in Smallholder Livestock Systems in Developing Countries, International Livestock Research Institute (ILRI), Nairobi, Kenya), pp. 157-182.
- Glatzle A. 1992. Feed resources in the Sahel. Animal Research and Development, 35: 43-58.
- Grings E.E., Tarawali S. A., Blummel M, Musa A., Fatokun C., Hearne S. and Boukar O. 2010. Innovative research along the cowpea value chain. Cowpea in evolving livestock systems

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/b90a/f8fa62ab77636de380c5ae075d628ae36783.pdf

- Haber H. Erb K.H., Krausmann F., Gaube V., Gingrich S. and Plutzar C. 2007. Quantifying and mapping the human appropriation of net primary production in earth's terrestrial ecosystems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104:12942-12947.
- Hendy C.R.C. 1977. Animal Production in Kano State, Nigeria. Land Resource Report No. 21. Land Resource Division, Tolworth, UK.

- Hiernaux P. 1996. The crisis of Sahelian pastoralism: ecological or economic? Network paper 39a. London: Pastoral development Network, Overseas Development Institute. ILRI (aka ILCA and ILRAD), 1996
- Ibrahim M.N.M. and Pearce G.R. 1983. Effects of chemical pretreatments on the composition and In vitro digestibility of crop by-products. *Agricultural Wastes*. 5: 135–156. 10.1016/0141-4607(83)90080-X.
- IPCC. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007). Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Summary for policy makers. Online at <u>http://www.ipcc.cg/SPM13apr07.pdf</u>.
- Jaiswal R. S., Verma M. L., and Agrawal I. S. 1988. Effect of various protein supplements added to ammonia (urea) treated rice straw diet on nutrient intake, digestibility and growth in crossbred heifers. *Indian Journal of Animal Nutrition*, 5 (3): 188-194.
- Jayasuriya M.C.N., 2002. Principles of ration formulation for ruminants. In: Development and field evaluation of animal feed supplementation packages. Proceedings of the final review meeting of an IAETA Technical Cooperation Regional AFRA project held in Cairo, Egypt 25-29 Nov. 2000.
- Kaasschieter G.A., Coulibaly Y., Heitkonig I.M.A. and Ketelaars J.J.M.H. 1998. La supplementation du betail: une necessite! In: Breman, H., Sissoko, K. (Eds.), L'intensication Agricole au Sahel. Karthala, Paris, pp. 79-105.
- Karachi M. and Lefofe B. M. 2004. Variation in native cowpea for forage production in semiarid Botswana. *Tropical Grassland*, 38 (1): 56-61
- Kayouli C. 1994. Rapport de mission, Projet FAO PNUD / NER/ 89/016 Niger: Traitement a l'uree des fourrages grossiers. FAO, Rome.
- Kayouli C. 1996. Increasing utilization of locally available feed resources for cattle and buffaloes. Terminal Statement FAO TCP/LAO/4451.
- Kiema A., Nianogo A.J., Ouédraogo T., Somda J. 2008. Valorisation des ressources alimentaires locales dans l'embouche ovine paysanne: performances technico-économiques et options de diffusion. *Cahiers Agricultures* 17: 23-27.
- Klein H.D. 1981. Contribution à l'estimation de la production sur pâturage sahelien au Niger. *Rev Elev Med vet Pays trop* 34: 211-220.
- Konlan S.P., Ayantunde A.A., Addah W., Dei H.K. and Karbo N. 2018. Emerging feed markets for ruminant production in urban and peri-urban areas of Northern Ghana. *Tropical Animal Health Production*, 250(1):169-176.
- Kossila V.L. 1985. Better Utilisation of Crop residues and By-Products in Animal feeding: Research Guidelines. 1. State of Knowledge. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper No. 50, FAO, Rome, Italy.
- Kouame C., Hoefs S., Powell J.M., Roxas D. and Renard C., 1992. Intercrop Stylosanthes effects on millet yields and animal performance in the Sahel. In: J.E.S. Stares, A.N. Said and J.A. Kategile (Editors), The Complementarity of Feod Resources for Animal Production in Africa. ILCA, Addis Ababa, pp. 137-146.
- Lamidi A. A. 2004. Ruminal Estimation of Mineral Profiles of *Tephrosia bracteolata* and *Gmelina arborea* Punning using Fistulated sheep. (M. Agric. Dissertation, Department of Animal Production and Heath, University of Agricultural Abeokuta, Abeokuta, Ogun State).

- Le Houérou H N. 1988. Browse in North Africa. In: Le Houérou H N (Ed), Browse in Africa: The current state of knowledge. Papers presented at the International Symposium on Browse in Africa, Addis Ababa, April 8-12, 1980. ILCA (International Livestock Centre for Africa), Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. pp. 55-82.
- Ly C., Fall A. and Okike I. 2010. West Africa. The livestock sector in need of regional stratégies.
 In P. Gerber, H. Mooney & J. Dijkman, eds. Livestock in a changing landscape. Vol. 2.
 Experience and regional perspectives. Washington, DC, Island Press. 189 p
- McCullough M. E. 1978. New trends in ensiling forages. In: Ruminant nutrition: Selected articles from the World Animal Review. FAO Animal Production and Health Paper 12.
- Morrison I.M. and R.E. Brice 1984. The digestion of untreated and ammonia-treated barley straw in an artificial rumen. Animal Feed Science Technology, 10: 229–38.
- Mortimore M. 1991. A review of mixed farming systems in the semiarid zone of sub-Saharan Africa. Livestock Economics Division, Working Document 17. International Livestock Centre for Africa (ILCA), Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. pp. 27-28
- Mullen C. 1999. Summer legume forage crops: cowpeas, lablab, soybeans. NSW Department of Primary Industries. Broadacre crops. Agfact P4.2.16
- Ngele M. B., Kalla D. J. U., Abubakar M., Dass U. D. and Amba A.A. 2009. Enhancing crop residues for livestock feeding in the tropics. *Journal of league of researchers in Nigeria*, 10 (2):1-20.
- Nantoumé H., Kouriba A., Togola D. and Ouologuem B. 2000. Mesure de la valeur alimentaire des fourrages et sous-produits utilisés dans l'alimentation des petits ruminants. *Revue d'Elevage et Médicine Vétérinaire des Pays Tropicaux* 53: 279-284.
- Obese A. M. 1998. The effects of agricultural by-products supplementation on the growth performance of the Djallonke sheep. BSc. (Agric. Tech) Dissertation, University for Development Studies, Tamale, pp. 24-35.
- Oji U.I., Etim H.E. and Okoye F.C. 2007. Effects of urea and aqueous ammonia treatment on the composition and nutritive value of maize residues. *Small Ruminant Research*, 69: 232-236
- Osafo E.L.K., Owen E., Said A.N., Gill M. and Sherington J. 1994. The effect of variety of chopped sorghum stover and amount offered on intake, weight-change and digestibility in sheep. In: Programme and Abstracts of the Third Small Ruminant Research Network (SRNET) Biennial Conference, Uganda International Conference Centre, Kampala, Uganda, 5-9 December 1994, 19.
- Otchere E. O., Ahmed H. U., Adesipe Y. M., Kallah M. S., Mzamane N., Adenowo T. K., Bawa E. K., Olorunju S. A. A, Voh Jr. A. A., Lufadeju E. A. and Balogun S. T. 1985. Livestock production among pastoralists in Giwa District. Preliminary report of the Livestock System Research Project, NAPRI, Nigeria.
- Penning de Vries F.W.T and Djiteye M.A. 1982. La Productivité des Pâturages Saheliens Centre for Agricultural Publishing and Documentation Wageningen, Netherlands.
- Phillip D., Nkonya E., Pender J. and Oni O. A. 2009. Constraints to increasing agricultural productivity in Nigeria: A review, No 6, NSSP working papers, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).
- Pichot J., Burdin S., Charoy J. and Nabos J. 1974. L'enfouissement des pailles de mil Pennisetum dans les sols sableux dunaires: Son influence sur les rendements et la

nutrition minérale du mil; son action sur les caractéristiques chimiques du sol et la dynamique de l'azote minéral. *Agronomie Tropicale* (Paris) 29: 995-1005.

- Powell J.M. and Fussell L.K. 1993. Nutrient and structural carbohydrate partitioning in pearl millet. *Journal of Agronomy*, 85: 862-866.
- Ramirez G. R., Aguilera-Gonzalez J. C., Garcia- Diaz G., Nunez-Gonzalez A. M. 2007. Effect of urea treatment on chemical composition and digestion of *Cenchrus ciliaris* and *Cynodon dactylon* Hays and *Zea mays* residues. *Journal of Animal Veterinary Advances*, 6 (8): 1036-1041
- Ramirez-Bribiesca J.E, Soto-Sanchiez A., Hernandez-calva L.M., Salinas-Chavira J., Galaviz-Rodriguez J.R., Cruz-Monterrosa R.G. and Vargas-Lopez S. 2010. Influence of *Pleurotus ostreatus* spent corn straw on performance and carcass characteristics of feedlot Pelibuey lambs. *Indian Journal of Animal Science*, 80:754-757.
- Randolph T.F., Schelling E., Grace D., Nicholson C.F., Leroy J.L., Cole D.C., Demment M.W., Omore A., Zinsstag J. and Ruel M. 2007 Role of livestock in human nutrition and health for poverty reduction in developing countries. *Journal of Animal Science* 85 (11):2788-800.
- Tarawali G. and Mohamed-Saleem M.A. 1994. Establishment techniques for Stylo-associated cropping systems. In: de Leeuw P.N., Mohamed-Saleem M.A. and Nyamu A.M. (eds), Stylosanthes as a Forage and Fallow Crop. Proceedings of the Regional Workshop on the Use of Stylosanthes in West Africa, held in Kaduna, Nigeria, 26–31 October 1992. ILCA (International Livestock Centre for Africa), Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. pp. 183–192.
- Redelsperger J.L., Thorncroft C., Diedhiou A., Lebel T., Parker D.J. and Polcher J. 2006. African monsoon multidisciplinary analysis (AMMA): an international research project and field campaign. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society* 87: 1739–1746.
- Reed J.D., Kebede Y. and Fussell L.K. 1988. Factors affecting the nutritive value of sorghum and millet crop residues. In: Reed, J.D., Capper, B.S. and Neate, P.J.H. (eds), Plant Breeding and the Nutritive Value of Crop Residues. Proceedings of a Workshop, 7-10 December 1987, International Livestock Centre for Africa, (ILCA), Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, pp. 233-251.
- Reynolds S.G., Batello C., Baas S. and Mack S. 2005. Grassland and forage to improve livelihoods and reduce poverty. In McGilloway, D.A. ed. Grassland: A Global Resource. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen. pp 323 – 338
- Ryu D.D.Y. 1989. The enhancement of nutritional value of cellulosic feed resources by pretreatment and bioconversion. pp 223-243: In Biotechnology for livestock production FAO, Rome.
- Sanon H.O. and Kanwé B.A., 2002. Les cultures fourragères pour des productions animales durables. Poster présenté au Forum National de la Recherche Scientifique et des Innovations Technologiques (FRSIT), tenu à Ouagadougou du 11 au 18 mai 2002
- Sanon H.O., Kaboré-Zoungrana C. and Ledin I. 2007. Behaviour of goats, sheep and cattle and their selection of browse species on natural pasture in a Sahelian area. *Small Ruminant Research* 67: 64-74.
- Savadogo M., Zemmelink G., Nianogo H. and Van Keulen H. 2000. Cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L. Walp) and groundnut (*Arachys Hypogea* L.) haulms as supplements to sorghum

(*Sorghum bicolour* L. Moench) stover: intake, digestibility and optimum feeding levels. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 87: 57–69.

- Savadogo M., Zemmelink G., Van Keulen H., Nianogo A.J. 1999. Contribution of crop residues to ruminant feeding in different agroecological zones of Burkina Faso. *Revue d'Elevage et de Médecine Vétérinaire des Pays Tropicaux* 52: 255-262.
- Sere C., Ayantunde A., Duncan A., Freeman A., Herrero M., Tarawali S. and Wright I. 2008. Livestock production and poverty alleviation-challenges and opportunities in arid and semi-arid tropical rangeland-based systems. In: the proceedings of multi-functional grasslands in a changing world. XXI International Grassland Congress and VII International Rangeland Congress, China. 19-29 pp. http://64.95.130.4/ILRIPubAware/Uploaded%20Files/Sere%20IGC%20paper%20 8%20pages%20final_formatted.pdf and http://www.slideshare.net/ILRI/china-grasslands-congress-june-16-v3
- Simbaya J. 2002. Availability and feeding quality characteristics of on-farm produced feed resources in the traditional small-holder sector in Zambia. Development and field evaluation of animal feed supplementation packages Proceedings of the final review meeting of an IAEA Technical Co-operation Regional AFRA Project organized by the Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture and held in Cairo, Egypt, 25–29 November 2000
- Sindhu A.A., Khan Mahr-Un-Nisa M.A. and Sarwar M. 2002. Agro-Industrial *by*-products as a potential source of livestock feed; Review. *International Journal of Agriculture and Biology*, 4(2):307-310
- Singh B. B., Ajeigbe, H. A., Tarawali S. A., Fernandez-Rivera S. and Abubakar M., 2003. Improving the production and utilization of cowpea as food and fodder. *Field Crop Research*, 84 (1-2): 169-177.
- Singh B., Musa A., Ajeigbe H. A. and Tarawali S. 2011. Effect of feeding crop residues of different cereals and legumes on weight gain of Yankasa rams. *International Journal of Livestock Production* 2 (2), pp. 017-023.
- Singh B.B. and Tarawali S.A. 1997. Cowpea and its improvement: key to sustainable mixed crop/livestock farming systems in West Africa. In: Renard C (eds.), Crop residues in sustainable mixed crop/livestock farming systems. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau International (CABI), Wallingford, United Kingdom. pp. 79–100
- Singh F. and Diwakar B. 1993. Nutritive Value and Uses of Pigeon pea and Groundnut. Manual. Patancheru: International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics.
- Singh S., Nag S. K., Kundu S. S. and Maity S. B. 2010. Relative intake, eating pattern, nutrient digestibility, nitrogen metabolism, fermentation pattern and growth performance of lambs fed organically and inorganically produced cowpea hay-barley grain diets. *Tropical Grassland*, 44: 55-6.1
- Smith J. 2015. African Livestock Transformation Feeding Africa Conference. 2015. An action plan for African Agricultural transformation. 21- 23 October 2015.
- Smith T. 2012. Some Tools to combat dry season nutritional stress in ruminants under African conditions. Development and field evaluation of animal feed supplementation packages Proceedings of the final review meeting of an IAEA Technical Co-operation Regional

AFRA Project organized by the Joint FAO/IAEA Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture and held in Cairo, Egypt, 25–29 November 2000

- Smith O.B. 1988. Studies on the Feeding Value of Agro-Industrial By-products. Effect of forage supplementation on the utilization of cocoa-pod based diets by ruminants. *Journal of Animal Research*, 8(1): 1-14.
- Smith O.B. 1993. Feed resources for intensive smallholder systems in the tropics: the role of crop residues. Proc. Of the XVII International Grassland congress. 18-21 February, 1993. Rockhampton, Australia.
- The World Bank, 2012. Identifying Investment Opportunities for the Ruminant Livestock Feeding in Developing Countries. World Bank Other Operational Studies 26813, The WorldBank.

http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/303271468315576097/Identifyinginvestment-opportunities-for-ruminant-livestock-feeding-in-developing-countries.

- Thomas D. and Sumberg J.E. 1995. A review of the evaluation and use of tropical forage legumes in sub-Saharan Africa. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 54 (3) : 151-163.
- Traore A.T. 2016. Etude sur les chaines de valeur biomasse fourragere dans la zone agropastorale du Yatenga au Burkina Faso, Rapport final Mars 2016 WACIP (West African Common Industrial Policy). 2010. Cottonseed, oil, and cake: Co-products or byproducts in the C-4 cotton sectors? Report.
- Wanapat, M. 2000. Role of cassava hay as animal feed in the tropics. In: Proc. Interntional Workshop on Current Research and Development in Use of Cassava as Animal Feed. July 23- 24, 2001, Khon Kaen University, Thailand. pp. 13-19
- Williams O.T., Fernandez S., Kelley T.G., 1997. The influence of socio-economic factors on the availability and utilization of crop residues as animal feeds. In: Renard, C. (Ed.), Crop Residues in Sustainable Mixed Crop-livestock Farming Systems. Proceedings of the International Workshop. ICRISAT, ILRI, CAB International, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia, pp. 25-39
- Wylie B.K., Denda I., Pieper R.D., Harrington J.A., Reed B.C. and Southward G.M. 1995. Satellite-based herbaceous biomass estimates in the pastoral zone of Niger. *Journal of Range Management*, 48: 159 -164.
- Wylie B., Senock R., Synder L., Roettgen B. and Porter B. 1983. Range research and results USAID NRL preliminary report Niamey.
- Zampaligre N., Luc H. D. and Eva V. 2013. Contribution of browse to ruminant nutrition across three agro-ecological zones of Burkina Faso. *Journal of Arid Environments*. 95. 10.1016/j.jaridenv.2013.03.011.
- Zerbo I., Bernhardt-Römermann M., Ouédraogo O., Hahn K. and Thiombiano A. 2016. Effects of Climate and Land Use on Herbaceous Species Richness and Vegetation Composition in West African Savanna Ecosystems. *Journal of Botany*, Article ID 9523685, 11 pages, 2016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/9523685</u>
- Zongo P. 1997. Contribution à l'optimisation de l'utilisation des residus de récoltes dans la province du Zoundwéogo. Mémoire d'Ing. du Dévelop. Rural, option Elevage, Institut Polytechnique de Bobo Dioulasso, Burkina Faso, 110 p.